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PENSION SCHEMES ACT 1993, PART X

DETERMINATION BY THE DEPUTY PENSIONS OMBUDSMAN
	Applicant
	:
	Mr R A B

	Scheme
	:
	The Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS)

	Respondents
	:
	WC

The Secretary of State (represented by the Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG))


MATTERS FOR DETERMINATION 

1. Mr B asserts that WC failed to consider his application for an ill health pension in a proper and timely manner. In particular, Mr B states that WC:

1.1. Failed to have due regard to the LGPS Regulations or to published guidance;

1.2. Took over two years to reach a decision under the internal dispute resolution (IDR) procedure;

1.3. Breached confidentiality; and

1.4. Withheld information.

2. Mr B asserts that the Secretary of State’s findings, at stage two of the IDR procedure, are incompatible and contradictory.

3. Within the documents submitted in the course of my investigation, there are a number of references to other issues. Some of these are more properly viewed as employment matters and, as such, do not fall within my remit, e.g. the requirements of the Disability Discrimination Act, and some are, and have been, more properly dealt with by other regulatory bodies, e.g. the General Medical Council. This Determination is concerned with those matters directly related to Mr B’s pension entitlement.

4. Some of the issues before me might be seen as complaints of maladministration while others can be seen as disputes of fact or law and indeed, some may be both.  I have jurisdiction over either type of issue and it is not usually necessary to distinguish between them.  This determination should therefore be taken to be the resolution of any disputes of fact or law and/or (where appropriate) a finding as to whether there had been maladministration and if so whether injustice has been caused.

MATERIAL FACTS

LGPS Regulations

5. See Appendix 1.

Eligibility for Ill Health Retirement
6. Mr B was employed by WC from 2 January 1980 to 31 March 2004, when he took early retirement.

7. Mr B had been suffering from poor health for some time and had a number of absences from work as a result. In May 2002, he underwent surgery and shortly afterwards was signed off on sick leave by his GP.

8. In October 2002, Mr B attended an appointment with WC’s Occupational Health Adviser, Dr H. In her memorandum to the departmental Head of Personnel (copied to Central Personnel), dated 24 October 2002, Dr H said:

“I was able to review [Mr B] today in [Dr C’s] absence.

As you know [Mr B] has now been absent from work for almost six months with a number of medical conditions. Having had the opportunity of a fairly indepth (sic) discussion with him today, I do feel that he needs further specialist advice and have written to his General Practitioner about this. If further treatment might be available which would improve [Mr B’s] symptoms, then a return to work at some stage cannot be ruled out. However, if a second opinion fails to offer any other therapeutical alternatives, then alternative work or termination of employment may need to be considered.

I feel it would be useful to review [Mr B] again in about two months time to see if any progress in managing his condition has been made.”

9. Dr H signed a certificate “in accordance with Regulation 97” of the LGPS Regulations, on 24 October 2002, to the effect that, in her opinion, Mr B was not permanently incapable of discharging efficiently the duties of his employment. Dr H also wrote to Mr B’s GP suggesting that he be referred to a Gastroenterologist and suggesting a Dr B.
10. Mr B wrote to his manager on 26 October 2002. He said that his understanding was that Dr H felt that his condition had not been sufficiently explored and she wanted to defer her decision pending a report from a gastroenterologist. Mr B said that he would be visiting his GP and asking for a referral to a local specialist.

11. Mr B’s period of paid sick leave ended on 28 October 2002.

12. On 5 November 2002, Mr B was informed that Dr H had certified that he was not permanently incapable of discharging efficiently the duties of his employment. He was sent a copy of Dr H’s certificate and informed that he had the right of appeal (under the IDR procedure). Mr B was also sent a copy of WC’s Code of Practice on Staff Sickness and told that further consideration might be given to his future employment under this Code because he remained absent from work due to ill health. In response, Mr B reiterated his understanding that Dr H had wanted to defer her decision pending a report from a gastroenterologist. He said that he had met with his GP and it was her view that his condition had been sufficiently explored and that his Consultant, Mr F, would have made a referral to a gastroenterologist, had he deemed this appropriate.

13. Dr B wrote to Mr B’s GP on 26 November 2002. Having given a brief account of Mr B’s medical history, she went on to say:
“[Mr B] requested to see me … for an opinion about his longstanding abdominal problems.

…

On examination, [Mr B] was anxious with a mild resting tremor of the hands. There was no goitre and no lymphadenopathy. The only abnormal finding on abdominal and rectal examination was, I thought, a smooth enlarged liver.

My impression is that [Mr B] is certainly depressed and probably has a functional bowel disorder. However, I would be grateful to have the results of all previous investigations … I have written to [Mr F] to request the results of these investigations and when I have these to hand will then contact [Mr B] if further investigations are indicated …”

14. On 17 December 2002, WC (Personnel) wrote to Mr B, saying that Dr H had considered it useful to review his case after two months and, therefore, an appointment had been made for him with another of their Medical Advisers, Dr C.

15. Mr B attended an appointment with Dr C on 19 December 2002. Dr C wrote to the departmental Head of Personnel at WC (copied to Central Personnel) on 23 December 2002:

“On the advice of [Dr H], [Mr B] has sought a second opinion which I am told supports the opinion of [Mr B’s] treating Consultant, General Practitioner and myself.

I have reiterated to [Mr B] the course of action that I believe is most likely to improve his medical condition. [Mr B] has advised me that the Consultant who provided a second opinion recommended the same course of action.

I have written to [Mr B’s] General Practitioner to request a copy of the report sent to her by the doctor who provided the second opinion. I will contact you again once I have received the information requested from [Mr B’s] General Practitioner.

Clinically, [Mr B’s] condition appears unchanged. I remain unable to predict when or if [Mr B] will be well enough to return to work. I consider the position as certified by [Dr H] on 24 October, 2002 is unchanged.”

16. Dr C wrote to the departmental Head of Personnel, on 13 January 2003, saying that she had received the information she had requested from Mr B’s GP and this had not changed the opinion she had given in her memorandum of 23 December 2002.
17. Mr F wrote to Dr C on 20 January 2003. He gave a comprehensive account of Mr B’s medical history from May 2000 and concluded:

“I have asked our pathologists to review [Mr B’s] histology to exclude microscopic or collagenous colitis. If the second opinion on the histology turns out to be normal then I believe we will have to assume [Mr B’s] symptoms are that of an irritable bowel. This disorder can be quite limiting as in his case, and I believe that his symptoms … are exacerbated by stress and anxiety …”

18. On 28 January 2003, Mr B’s manager wrote to him informing him (inter alia) that Dr C had said that she was unable to predict when or if he would be well enough to return to work.

19. On 5 February 2003, Dr C wrote to the departmental Head of Personnel (copied to Central Personnel) stating that, in her opinion, Mr B should be considered disabled as defined by the Disability Discrimination Act 1995 (the DDA95).

20. Mr B returned to work, on 11 February 2003, on the basis that he could take a day’s annual leave each week.

21. Dr C wrote to the departmental Head of Personnel (copied to Central Personnel), on 17 March 2003, having seen Mr B on 14 March 2003. She said:

“[Mr B] described to me significant ongoing symptoms and it is clear that he is still unwell.

I have again advised [Mr B] of the course of action that I believe would be beneficial to his health, although I am aware that he remains resistant to this course of action.

I understand that [Mr B] is working Mondays, Tuesdays, Thursdays and Fridays, taking Wednesday as annual leave.

[Mr B] is keen to reduce his working week to a maximum of three days. As it may be advantageous to his health, this request and its practicality should be considered in the context of the Disability Discrimination Act, 1995.

I have discussed with [Mr B] the possible benefit of a further review in the Occupational Health Unit in six to eight weeks. [Mr B] has advised that he sees no point in any further Occupational Health review and I would therefore be grateful if you could advise me whether or not you would like a further appointment to be allocated.”

22. In a letter dated 16 April 2003, Mr B’s manager referred to previous discussions between himself and Mr B and (inter alia) said that, as agreed, he had obtained figures for Mr B on the basis that he took voluntary early retirement on 30 September 2003.
23. Mr B appealed, under the IDR procedure, on 30 April 2003.

24. During the course of the IDR procedure, Dr H provided a written response to the Appointed Person in which she said:

“I have been asked to respond to you in the case of [Mr B] whom I saw … on 24 October, 2002 in my capacity as an independent medical adviser. I had available to me the Occupational Health notes which included both [Dr C’s] records and extensive medical reports.

To respond to the questions … in order:-

I referred to [Dr C’s] absence on 24 October, 2002 as Dr C is the usual Occupational Health Physician at [WC] and I only work on an occasional basis to review specific cases as requested by the Council.

My qualifications are MBChB, DIH and AFOM …

I note that [Mr B] feels that the process in which we were both involved was not “fair, objective or balanced”. This is clearly regrettable but I would point out that I had not previously met [Mr B] hence I believe that this demonstrates my independence. I did however have available extensive notes which I had read prior to meeting [Mr B] and I took a detailed history from him at the time of my examination. I also had available details of his job content from the job description supplied to me.

For the past twenty-five years I have been required to see patients with a variety of illnesses and assess their capabilities against job descriptions. In order that I may do this to a reasonable standard, I ensure that available notes are read and I check both the patient’s symptoms and their job details with the patient in order that I have a clear understanding of how their symptoms affect daily living and impact upon their work.

My conclusions about [Mr B] were that he was suffering from two conditions each of which were (sic) impacting upon the other. In my opinion, neither condition precluded work and each condition could be expected to respond to treatment. It was clear however that [Mr B’s] symptoms were physically extremely distressing and, with this in mind, I suggested that it might be appropriate for him to seek further advice on the management of his condition from a specialist in that particular illness. It was for this reason that I gave him the name of [Dr B] who is an eminent expert in her field. I have today read [Dr B’s] report and her diagnosis confirms my clinical impression.

In my experience the conditions suffered by [Mr B] impact on each other and both the physical and psychological approach are often beneficial in management of the symptoms. [Dr B] is experienced in the management of the conditions and I was aware of the fact that she uses both a physical and psychological approach to patients with the condition suffered by [Mr B].

When I reviewed [Mr B] on 24 October, 2002 my opinion was that he was symptomatic and that he might benefit from further treatment. However, I did not consider that he was permanently unfit, in accordance with Regulation 1997 (sic) of the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 1997 (as amended). I suggested that he be reviewed after further treatment to determine whether or not this had been effective. The two conditions I diagnosed on 24 October, 2002 can both reasonably be expected to respond to treatment at some stage. I did not therefore feel that ill-health retirement was appropriate. The options for [Mr B] therefore were either to consider alternative work – perhaps on a part-time basis – or for the Council to consider some form of termination of employment if he remained symptomatic and unable to work on a temporary basis.

The certificate was issued on 24 October, 2002 as my opinion at that time was that [Mr B] was not permanently unfit for work.”

25. The Pensions Manager wrote to the Appointed Person on 6 June 2003. He quoted Regulations 27 and 97(9) (see Appendix 1) and provided a copy of the Local Government Pensions Committee (LGPC) Circular 113 (see Appendix 2). The Pensions Manager said:

“As a certificate has not been issued in accordance with regulation 97(9) … and [Mr B] has not ceased employment he has not been awarded immediate payment of his benefits …

… The LGPC provided an example of a certificate that could be used by Local Authorities. The Council’s certificates have been based on this example and I do not consider that they differ in any significant way.

…

Regulation 6 of the Local Government Pension Scheme (Amendment No. 2) Regulations 2001 … required the Council to appoint another Independent Occupational Health Physician. Approval to do this was obtained through SO83 General Purposes Committee. I enclose a copy of the appropriate SO83. You will note that this states that the appointed “doctor must be suitably qualified in occupational health medicine”. This authority has ensured that the Council has met … requirements …”

26. The Standing Order, passed by WC in April 2002, stated:

“An amendment to the 1997 Local Government Pensions Regulations … provides that, from 1st April this year, all decisions concerning whether a Council employee in the Local Government Pension Scheme is eligible for early retirement on the grounds of ill-health must be taken by an independent registered medical practitioner.

The doctor must be suitably qualified in occupational health medicine, and must have had no previous involvement in advising or giving an opinion on the case. In addition the doctor cannot act and must not at any time have acted as the representative of the employee, the Council or any other party in relation to the same case.

This change means that the Council’s current Occupational Health Physician, [Dr C], who will have had previous involvement in advising on cases can no longer take decisions as to whether employees qualify for ill-health retirement benefits.

It has therefore proved necessary to find a suitably qualified doctor to decide on these cases. Authority is sought to appoint [Dr K], who currently provides Occupational Health advice to OFSTED and the London Borough of Merton …”

27. Mr B subsequently wrote to the Appointed Person and said (inter alia):

“Meantime … I had an appointment with my consultant surgeon [Mr F] last Friday, 4th June. His position is unchanged from the last time I saw him. He considers there is little to be gained from further surgery and that the best that I can hope for is to ‘manage my condition’. It is his view, and my experience of recent months, that this is something I am unlikely to achieve while I continue in my post at [WC] as he considers the condition is exacerbated by the stresses of the job. In this respect he was a little surprised that the council had not taken the opportunity to retire me on health grounds earlier in the year and has offered to write again if he thought it would serve any purpose.”

28. On 30 July 2003, Dr C wrote to the Appointed Person:
“When I met with [Mr B] on 19 December, 2002 we discussed his symptoms and treatment. He told me that he had seen [Dr B] who had advised him to see a psychiatrist. He told me that he was seeing a counsellor attached to his General Practitioner’s practice. [Mr B] expressed his dissatisfaction about his work situation and the opinion provided by [Dr H].

I advised [Mr B] that I agreed with [Dr B] that it would be advisable for him to see a psychiatrist to obtain the treatment needed to enable him to effect a recovery. At that time he remained absent from work. When I saw [Mr B] on 14 March, 2003 he had returned to work in mid-February and had made arrangements to work reduced hours. He told me that he had not been referred to a psychiatrist. I have no knowledge of whether he has subsequently been referred to a psychiatrist as I have not seen him since 14 March, 2003.

At the appointment on 19 December, 2002 [Mr B] agreed to obtain a copy of the report from [Dr B] … I advised [Mr B] that my knowledge of the LGPS regulations was limited. Therefore, I did not know whether a further opinion would be sought from [Dr H], whether a new independent physician would be appointed or what further action would be taken by the Council. However, having considered the report from [Dr B] I concluded that it provided no information that meant a review of [Dr H’s] decision was necessary. In these circumstances, I confirmed in my memorandum of 13 January, 2003 that the position as to the question of [Mr B’s] ill health retirement remained as certified by [Dr H] …

In my opinion [Mr B] is disabled as defined by the Disability Discrimination Act, 1995.

I do not agree with [Mr B’s] conclusion that [Dr H’s] opinion was unreasonable. The question that was being considered was [Mr B’s] future employment capability and [Dr H] was an appropriate person to undertake this assessment. I share her view that on the basis of the available medical evidence [Mr B] is not permanently incapable of discharging efficiently the duties of his employment or any other comparable employment with his employer because of ill health or infirmity of mind or body.

I have no evidence that the process was “seriously flawed” as described by [Mr B].”

29. Mr F sent a copy of his letter of 20 January 2003 (see paragraph 16) to the Appointed Person on 1 August 2003. In his covering letter, he said:

“Following the letter a second opinion from [Dr B] in London was obtained who concurred with [Mr B’s] diagnosis …”

30. On 28 October 2003, Dr H wrote to the Employee Relations Manager:

“Thank you for your memo and copy of [Mr B’s] letter dated 3rd October 2003. I acknowledge also his signed consent, and the copy of the internal dispute resolution procedure …

This response should be read in conjunction with my memo dated 29 May 2003 …

… I shall reply to [Mr B’s] additional questions in the order in which they appear in the letter …

1.
… [Mr B] stated that [Dr C] and I were of different opinions. This was not the case. My clinical notes dated 24th October 2002 state quite clearly that my diagnosis was twofold. The diagnoses were of anxiety/depression and bowel problems.


In my opinion, both these conditions could reasonably be expected to improve with treatment. In my experience, patients with distressing physical symptoms do not tend to respond well to an initial referral to a psychiatrist … The reason for suggesting [Dr B] … was her particular interest in gastroenterological conditions with concomitant psychological symptoms.

2. … [Mr B] raises the issue of the DDA. It was clear that [Mr B] qualified as being disabled under the Act since his daily living activities were adversely affected and his condition had been in existence for over a year …

3. I have no information relating to the timing of the release of my memo dated 29th May to [Mr B] …

4. … [Mr B] asks why I stated that I reviewed him in [Dr C’s] absence. When I attend the council, I see some clients for review because [Dr C] is away and other clients are seen for independent assessments.

My usual practice is to dictate each report immediately after the consultation. However, due to late running of the clinic due to a prolonged consultation with [Mr B], my dictation was deferred … when a number of reports were dictated. Some of these related to ‘follow up’ appointments which I had indeed performed in [Dr C’s] absence. The initial statement in the memo relating to [Mr B] was a simple error in the dictation note …

I was very well briefed prior to my session and would reassure [Mr B] that I was quite clear that my function during his assessment was that of an independent assessor.

5. … [Mr B] stated that the meeting lasted no longer than 15 to 20 minutes. This is not my recollection. All patients are booked for a half-hour consultation and in [Mr B’s] case, I recall distinctly that the consultation overran considerably …

The consultation lasted for a minimum of 40 minutes and probably longer. Prior to meeting [Mr B], I had the opportunity of reading the previous clinical notes, and I subsequently took a detailed history from him and was able to make 3 pages of notes … I believe that these are now available to you. My history focussed on his clinical symptoms and signs rather than on his job specification since a return to work was clearly not going to be an option until [Mr B’s] symptoms were less troublesome. As an occupational physician it is my duty to ensure that all treatment measures have been tried to facilitate a return to work and I did not feel this was so in [Mr B’s] case.

I note that [Mr B] did not feel my history taking was sufficiently structured … I have a method … which has served me well in the thirty years I have practised medicine and specifically in the 25 years I have practised occupational medicine. We shall have to agree to differ therefore on this point.

6. … [Mr B] states that the job description I had been given was nine years old. As he was, at the time, unfit to return to work, a full discussion of his duties and responsibilities would have served no useful purpose …

7. … my assessment of whether or not [Mr B] met the criteria for ill health retirement was based on knowledge of the natural history of [Mr B’s] medical conditions and the availability of treatment … Both may cause temporary incapacity, but access to treatment should allow partial or complete resolution of symptoms.

8. … [Mr B] stated that he felt my original report was ambiguous. To clarify the situation, in my opinion on the date in question, he was unfit for work as a head of policy.

However, it was also my view that it was reasonable to expect his conditions to respond to treatment. This would, on the balance of probabilities, render him fit for his own job or alternative work or part-time work at some stage in the future. The 2 month review was somewhat arbitrary. This was simply to allow [Mr B] sufficient time to access further care and to obtain better control of his symptoms. The opinion of the gastroenterologist was sought solely to provide treatment options and not for a view on [Mr B’s] capability for work.

…

9. … [Mr B] states that I told him that his disorder was ‘physiological and treatable’. I cannot recall the exact terms used … I would normally state that the physical symptoms should respond to treatment and I find the phrase ‘physiological and treatable’ unfamiliar.

It was the case that I felt [Mr B’s] physical symptoms were likely to respond to both medical and psychiatric intervention …

10. … [Mr B] states that I did not inform him that he was suffering from two conditions. I cannot recall what exactly was said to [Mr B] a year ago, but my clinical notes dated 24th October 2002 state quite clearly that my diagnosis was twofold …

I note that [Mr F’s] report stated that he had made it clear that further surgical treatment was not an option. However, this does not exclude further medical or psychological treatment.

[11.]
… [Mr B] states that I raised the issue of alternative or part-time working. After a period of prolonged sick leave … usual OH practice would suggest a return to work on part-time hours initially … this would not have been denied to [Mr B] simply because of the seniority of his position. Indeed, the meticulous detail and thoughtful analysis presented in his recent letter would suggest that he has the necessary skills for work at a senior level.

Finally, I feel it worth stating that I was asked to advise on whether or not, in my opinion, there was sufficient medical evidence to state that [Mr B] was rendered permanently unfit for work due to medical reasons. Given the natural history of his conditions, the availability of treatment for these conditions and the fact that both could reasonably be expected to improve with treatment, it was not my opinion that [Mr B] was permanently unfit for work.”

31. Dr C wrote to the Appointed Person, on 12 November 2003, making (inter alia) the following points:

31.1. The Council had already received an opinion from Dr H, when she saw Mr B in December 2002. She had explained to him that she was insufficiently familiar with the new Regulations to know whether a further independent medical opinion would be required if there was a significant change to his condition.

31.2. Mr B had given consent for her to obtain Dr B’s report. There was no significant change to Mr B’s condition and a further opinion did not need to be pursued.

31.3. There was no evidence of uncertainty in the medical advice given to the Council. There was no difference of opinion between herself, Dr H, Mr B’s GP or Dr B.

31.4. When Dr H saw Mr B in October 2002, she had considerable medical evidence before her. It was clear, from her records, that she took a detailed history from Mr B. It was Dr C’s opinion that these provided a sound basis to provide a medical opinion. Dr H had given a clear and unambiguous medical opinion. As Mr B’s health was stable at the time of the consultation and no new treatment was planned, she did not consider Dr H’s opinion to be premature. She considered Dr H’s opinion to be entirely reasonable.

32. In a letter (addressed to “Whom It May Concern”) dated 13 October 2003, Mr F said:

“Further to our recent correspondence based upon [Mr B’s] past medical history and his present … [Mr B’s] episodes … will continue in their present form. As a consequence travelling and employment away from the home will continue to be extremely difficult if not impossible. Unfortunately there has been no improvement in [Mr B’s] symptoms and it is unlikely that it will improve with time. If anything there will be a tendency for his symptoms to deteriorate further … Unfortunately there is no specific treatment for this condition which is related not only to employment but to any stressful activity. In conclusion, in [Mr B’s] current state it is unlikely he will be able to work effectively at the level of employment he has been used to. I can see no foreseeable improvement in the near future and indeed long term there is going to be a tendency for his symptoms to deteriorate further …”
33. In March 2004, Mr B’s job was re-graded, with effect from 1 September 2003.

34. The Head of Human Resources wrote to the Appointed Person, on 29 March 2004, informing him that Mr B’s employment would cease on 31 March 2004. He said that he proposed to obtain a fresh opinion from an independent Occupational Health Physician as to whether Mr B met the eligibility requirements for ill health retirement as at the date his employment ceased.

35. On 19 April 2004, the Head of Human Resources wrote to Dr K, enclosing:

35.1. The letter from Mr B dated 20 November 2003, together with a chronology of events prepared by Mr B.

35.2. The letter from Mr F dated 13 October 2003.

35.3. A work report prepared by Mr B’s manager, together with a job description (PO7) and a record of Mr B’s attendance at work from February 2003 to January 2004.

The Head of Human Resources asked Dr K to issue the appropriate certificate.

36. In August 2004, the Pensions Manager wrote to Mr B explaining that, following a re-grading and the payment of arrears of salary, his early retirement benefits had been recalculated. Mr B received arrears of pension and additional lump sum.

37. Dr K wrote to the Appointed Person on 9 August 2004:

“I have worked as an Occupational Health Physician for 7 years. I work as an Occupational Health Physician for … and provide independent physician advice for [WC].

I was asked to see [Mr B] on 20 April, 2004 and to advise as to whether on the balance of probabilities [Mr B] was permanently unfit up to the age of 65 on 31 March, 2004. I had his occupational health notes to hand, including reports previously obtained from treating physicians and the information supplied by [Mr B] in his letters to [the Appointed Person]. Initially I took a very detailed history from [Mr B] …

… at the time I saw him, his major diagnoses were irritable bowel syndrome and depression. The depression had been treated with anti-depressants and he had seen a Counsellor but no Consultant Psychiatrist, nor a Psychologist. He himself explained that the depression is largely secondary to his chronic illness. For his irritable bowel syndrome he had seen a Consultant Surgeon who considered that no further surgical intervention would help him. He has seen a Gastroenterologist once, ie [Dr B]. I therefore proceeded to obtain a report from [Dr B] to consider whether further management of his condition was likely on balance of probabilities to produce sufficient improvement to allow him to return to his own or comparable employment. I enclose a copy of her report dated 8 July 2004. It is clear that at the date of 31 March, all treatment options had not been exhausted. Given the nature of his conditions there is a reasonable chance of sufficient remission to occur before the age of 65 for him to return to his former job or comparable employment. I have therefore concluded that on the balance of probabilities he was not permanently unfit at 31st March, 2004.”

38. Dr B had written to Dr K on 8 July 2004. She said that she had seen Mr B on one occasion, in December 2002, as an out-patient. Dr B said:

 “… I have seen [Mr B] on one occasion …

I would be unhappy about signing [Mr B] off on permanent sick leave on the basis of a diagnosis of IBS for the following reasons:

1) IBS is usually a clinical positive diagnosis and not one made on the basis of exclusion after numerous negative investigations. However, [Mr B’s] case is not typical (in that he has such severe symptoms that he says he is unable to work) …

2) Your letter says that he has … This is against a diagnosis of IBS and again indicates the need for further investigation.

3) Before signing off on long term sick leave (if this is IBS) all opportunities for management should be explored including input from a psychologist.

I would be very happy to discuss this case with you by phone … I would be happy to see [Mr B] again but I have stated that I feel in-patient investigation is necessary which I am delighted to organise.”

39. On 7 December 2004, Mr B sent the Appointed Person a copy of a report, dated 1 December 2004, from a Dr Cn (Consultant Gastroenterologist) to Mr F. Dr Cn said:

“I am pleased to report that our patient … feels fairly well, however, he has noted that symptoms are clearly exacerbated when under stress. I think this has been the nature of his problem for the past few years. I note that your recent colonoscopy and colonoscopic biopsies were normal.

…

So far as his … symptoms are concerned, I suspect that unfortunately these are likely to continue so long as he remains in any particularly stressful situation. I have discussed dietary manipulations in an effort to try and relieve some of the symptoms but he has observed whilst he is not stressed, he has a normal bowel habit …”

40. In his accompanying letter, Mr B also said that he had written to Dr B. With regard to her letter, Mr B said that he did not recognise the symptoms Dr B had referred to and believed that an investigation would be inappropriate. He noted that Dr B had not commented on the opinion proffered by Mr F.

41. Dr K responded on 8 March 2005. She said:

“I have again reviewed the notes and reports for the above. In particular I refer to the letter of 1/12/04 from [Dr Cn] to [Mr F]. I also have taken into account the letter of [Dr B] who is an expert in the field of IBS. She gave an expert opinion about the condition and treatment options without reviewing [Mr B]. I agree with her therefore that this was not a medical report about his current condition …

In her letter of 8/7/04 she raises a number of issues. Firstly she questions the diagnosis … at least until a number of further tests have been carried out …

Secondly, if these tests have been done and proved negative … she advises that all management options for the treatment … should be explored including the input of a psychologist. She offered to review [Mr B] to complete the investigations probably as an in-patient.

Turning to the letter of [Dr Cn] of 1/12/04, he confirms that [Mr B] has normal bowel habit when not under stress and therefore concludes that the diagnosis is therefore irritable bowel syndrome … If the symptoms of [Mr B’s] illness are caused by stress then it would seem that maximum effort needs to be put into managing the stress because if successful this would render him symptom free …

[Mr F] is a consultant surgeon and concluded on 20/01/03 that [Mr B’s] condition … would be exacerbated by stress and anxiety. These therefore require adequate treatment before concluding that he is permanently unfit and a surgeon is not able to offer treatment for these conditions.

All the consultants who have seen [Mr B] have concluded that his major problem is irritable bowel syndrome, which is exacerbated although by no means necessarily caused by stress and anxiety. However, [Dr Cn] notes that he is symptom free when less stressed and I can see no reason why he would therefore be unable to work if his stress was adequately managed. A number of treatments have been recommended over the years for managing his stress including referral to a psychiatrist and for cognitive behavioural therapy. The latter has an excellent record of success for treating stress related conditions including IBS. I do not have evidence that these have been fully explored and must therefore conclude that he is not permanently unfit for his own or comparable work up to the age of 65. However, he could be troubled by a recurrence of his symptoms at some time in the future.”

42. The Appointed Person issued his decision on 24 June 2005. This is summarised here as follows:

42.1. He had seen (inter alia):

· Mr B’s application,

· Dr H’s memorandum of 24 October 2002 and her letter of 29 May 2003,

· Mr F’s letters of 20 January, 1 August and 13 October 2003,

· Dr C’s memorandum of 30 July 2003,

· Dr K’s memoranda of 9 August 2004 and 8 March and 15 April 2005,

· Dr B’s letters of 26 November 2002 and 8 July 2004, and

· Dr Cn’s letter of 1 December 2004.
42.2. In order to satisfy Regulation 27, it had to be shown that, on 5 November 2002 (the date of the original decision) or subsequently (up to 31 March 2004), there was sufficient evidence to conclude that, on the balance of probabilities, Mr B was permanently incapable (i.e. until his 65th birthday) of discharging efficiently the duties of his former employment (or any other comparable employment) because of ill-health or infirmity of mind or body.

42.3. The appropriate test for permanent incapacity required that any reasonable prospect of recovery of full capacity, taking full account of the treatment available and all available medical evidence, had ceased.

42.4. On the basis of the evidence provided to him, the Appointed Person decided that, on the balance of probabilities, the medical evidence, taken as a whole, suggested that at 5 November 2002 or, at the latest, 31 March 2004 Mr B was not suffering from such condition of ill-health that he would be permanently incapable of performing his former duties (or other comparable employment).

42.5. The relevant grounds supporting his decision were:

· On 24 October 2002, Dr H said:

“If further treatment might be available which would improve [Mr B’s] symptoms, then a return to work at some stage cannot be ruled out.”

Dr H certified that, in her opinion, Mr B was not permanently incapable because of ill-health.

· On 29 May 2003, Dr H said that the conditions she had diagnosed:

“… can both reasonably be expected to respond to treatment at some stage.”

· On 26 November 2002, Dr B said Mr B:

“… was certainly depressed and probably [had] a functional bowel disorder.”

Nothing in Dr B’s report contradicted Dr H’s earlier conclusion.

· On 20 January 2003, Mr F had not concluded that Mr B’s condition was such that he was permanently incapable by reason of ill-health. He had observed:

“I believe his symptoms … are exacerbated by stress and anxiety.”

· On 1 August 2003, Mr F had noted that Dr B had concurred with Mr B’s diagnosis. He did not conclude that Mr B was permanently incapable by reason of ill-health.

· On 13 October 2003, Mr F concluded:

“in [Mr B’s] current state it is unlikely he will be able to work effectively at the level of employment he has been used to. I can see no foreseeable improvement in the near future and indeed long term there is going to be a tendency for his symptoms to deteriorate further.”

It was significant that Mr F is a Consultant Surgeon and, accordingly, based his comments on his examination. He did not refer to possible treatment of the stress and anxiety he had noted in his report of 20 January 2003 and he did not conclude that Mr B was permanently incapable because of ill-health.

· It was quite proper that the Head of Human Resources had sought a fresh medical opinion when Mr B decided to retire in March 2004.

· Dr K’s memorandum of 9 August 2004 confirmed that she had Mr B’s occupational health notes and these would have included the evidence from Mr F. She had noted that Mr F considered that no further surgical intervention would help and she had sought a report from Dr B to consider whether further management of Mr B’s condition would produce sufficient improvement to allow him to return to his own or comparable employment. She concluded:

“It is clear that at the date of 31st March, all treatment options had not been exhausted. Given the nature of conditions there is a reasonable chance of sufficient remission to occur before the age of 65 for him to return to his former job or comparable employment.”

· On 8 July 2004, Dr B concluded that she would be unhappy to sign Mr B off on permanent sick leave and gave her reasons.

· Dr Cn noted that Mr B’s symptoms were exacerbated when under stress. It was noticeable that Dr Cn emphasised the importance of stressful situations to Mr B’s condition and did not conclude that he was permanently incapable because of ill-health.

· Dr K referred to Dr Cn’s report and commented that, if Mr B’s symptoms were caused by stress, maximum effort needed to be put into managing the stress because, if successful, it would render him symptom free. This comment followed logically from those of Dr Cn.

· Dr K noted that Mr F is a Consultant Surgeon and is not able to offer treatment for stress and anxiety. This comment followed logically from those of Mr F.

· Dr K noted that Dr Cn had commented that Mr B was symptom free when not stressed. She noted that a number of treatments had been suggested, including a referral to a psychiatrist and cognitive behavioural therapy, which she said had an excellent record of success for treating stress related conditions.

42.6. The Appointed Person accepted the combined evidence of Dr H, Dr K and Dr B, to the effect that, as at 5 November 2002 and subsequently to 31 March 2004, all treatment options had not been exhausted. He preferred the evidence of Dr H, Dr K and Dr B (supported by Mr B’s GP in a letter of 7 August 2002) to the more narrowly based opinions of Mr F and Dr Cn. He did not consider the evidence of Mr F and Dr Cn sufficient reasonably to conclude, on the balance of probabilities, that Mr B was permanently incapable for the purposes of Regulation 27.

43. Mr B appealed to the Secretary of State, who issued a decision on 9 March 2006. The Secretary of State found:

43.1. The key issue for him to determine was whether or not Mr B was entitled to the early payment of benefits on the grounds of ill-health.

43.2. At the time of WC’s original decision and Mr B’s appeal to the Appointed Person, Mr B was still employed by WC. The 1997 Regulations cover entitlement to benefits when certain employment conditions are satisfied. The termination of employment is an employment matter, which he had no power to decide. He, therefore, had no power to determine Mr B’s dispute in relation to WC’s decision of 5 November 2002.

43.3. Although Mr B’s employment did not cease, in March 2004, on the grounds of ill-health, WC had sought a fresh opinion from an independent Occupational Health Physician. Had the independent Occupational Health Physician certified that Mr B was permanently incapable of performing his former duties efficiently due to ill-health, WC would have awarded him early payment of his benefits under Regulation 27. He could, therefore, consider whether Mr B met the requirements of Regulation 27 on 31 March 2004.

43.4. He noted that the Occupational Health Physician had classified Mr B as disabled under the DDA95. Such classification is not conclusive in determining the award of LGPS benefits because the tests to be applied are different.

43.5. For Mr B’s incapacity to be permanent, Regulation 27 provides that it would have to be unlikely to improve sufficiently for him to perform the duties of his previous employment, or any other comparable employment, efficiently before the age of 65.

43.6. For the purposes of the Regulations, comparable employment must be employment which exists within that council and must be one that the member can be offered at the time that retirement is being considered. The contractual provisions as to the place, remuneration, hours of work, holiday entitlement, sickness or injury entitlement and other material terms must not differ substantially from those of the member’s employment.

43.7. No evidence had been submitted to show that the Council had offered Mr B any employment which could be considered comparable employment and they did not contend that they did.

43.8. He had considered all the medical evidence but, in particular, that of Mr F, Dr Cn and Dr K, which, in his view, were broadly contemporaneous with 31 March 2004.

43.9. He noted the opinion expressed by Mr F, in his letter of 13 October 2003. He noted that Mr F was not appropriately qualified within the meaning of Regulation 97(9).

43.10. He noted the opinion expressed by Dr K, in her memoranda of 9 August 2004 and 8 March 2005.

43.11. He noted the opinion given by Dr B, in her letter of 8 July 2004.

43.12. He noted the opinion expressed by Dr Cn, in his letter of 1 December 2004. He noted that Dr Cn was not appropriately qualified within the requirements of Regulation 97(9).
43.13. No further evidence had been submitted to him in which an independent medical practitioner, who was qualified in Occupational Health Medicine, provided an opinion as to whether Mr B was permanently incapable of discharging efficiently the duties of his former employment because of ill-health.

43.14. He accepted that, at the time Mr B ceased employment, he was incapable of discharging efficiently the duties of his former employment because of ill-health. The question to be considered next was whether that incapability was permanent, i.e. lasting at least until age 65; another 14 years in Mr B’s case.

43.15. Mr F was of the opinion that, in his current state, it was unlikely that Mr B would be able to work effectively at his former level of employment. Mr F also said that he could see no foreseeable improvement in the near future and that there was a tendency for Mr B’s symptoms to deteriorate further. Dr Cn was of the opinion that Mr B’s symptoms were likely to continue as long as he remained in a stressful situation. He had noted that Mr B was symptom free when not stressed.

43.16. Dr K is an appropriately qualified medical practitioner within the meaning of the Regulations. In her report of 8 March 2005, she opined that all the consultants who had seen Mr B concluded that his major problem was irritable bowel syndrome, which is exacerbated, although by no means caused, by stress and anxiety. She saw no reason why Mr B would be unable to work if his stress was adequately managed. Dr K noted that a number of treatments had been recommended over the years, including some which had an excellent record of success in treating stress related conditions. She found no evidence that these treatments had been fully explored and therefore concluded that Mr B was not permanently unfit for his own or comparable employment up to the age of 65. Dr K had noted that Mr B could be troubled by a recurrence of his symptoms at some time in the future.

43.17. Having taken all the evidence into account and in the light of Dr K’s comments that not all treatments have been fully explored, the Secretary of State found no evidence to show that, at the time Mr B ceased employment, he was permanently incapable of discharging efficiently the duties of his former employment because of ill-health or infirmity of mind or body. He did not, therefore, cease employment on the grounds of permanent incapability in the sense required by the Regulations and was not entitled to the immediate payment of benefits.

The Internal Dispute Resolution Procedure

44. Mr B appealed under the IDR procedure on 30 April 2003. His application was acknowledged by the Appointed Person on 14 May 2003. The Appointed Person said that he would obtain information from the Occupational Health Physician, the Pensions Manager and the Head of Human Resources. He noted that it was unlikely that he would be able to issue his decision within the required two months and said that he hoped to be able to issue it within a further two or three months, depending upon receipt of the additional information.

45. Dr H provided her response to the Appointed Person (copied to Mr B’s manager, the Pensions Manager, the Head of Human Resources and a Committee Secretary) on 29 May 2003.
46. Mr B’s manager wrote to the Appointed Person on 6 June 2003, enclosing correspondence from his file, which he said he felt to be relevant. He copied the papers to the Employee Relations Manager. The Pensions Manager also responded on 6 June 2003.
47. Mr B wrote to the Appointed Person, on 7 July 2003, advising him (inter alia) that WC was proposing to offer him early retirement on discretionary grounds. He said that he had been told that this would not prejudice his appeal concerning ill health retirement. Mr B also mentioned that he had seen Mr F.
48. In response, the Appointed Person said that, if Mr B wished to submit an up-to-date report from Mr F, he would consider it and that he would copy it to WC’s Occupational Health Physician for comment. He sent Mr B copies of the responses from the Pensions Manager and Mr B’s manager and said that he was waiting for a response from the Occupational Health Physician.

49. On 21 July 2003, Mr B sent a memorandum to his manager concerning a job evaluation. He said that his post had last been evaluated in 1993 and that since then he had assumed a number of additional demands and responsibilities.

50. Mr B submitted a further response to the Appointed Person on 24 July 2003, making the following points:

50.1. A standing order may not have been the correct response to the Regulation amendments.

50.2. The ill health retirement certificate used by WC did not include provision for the approved medical practitioner’s official stamp. This was more than a technical omission because it was evidence that medical practitioner met the requirements in the Regulations.

50.3. Some of the paperwork supplied by his manager was irrelevant.
50.4. He had asked to see the papers submitted to the Council concerning his voluntary early retirement and this had been refused. Nor had he been given a copy of Dr C’s report of January/February 2003.

50.5. He had been told by Dr C that she would be seeking a second opinion but this had not happened. He had been advised by his manager that this was because the Personnel department considered that a decision had been made. This apparent conflict between the Council’s medical officer and personnel suggested that his application had not been given due consideration.

51. The Appointed Person acknowledged Mr B’s response and said that it had been copied to “the relevant officers for their comments”.

52. Dr C wrote to the Appointed Person (copied as before) on 30 July 2003, enclosing Dr H’s memorandum of 29 May 2003 (see paragraph 45), Dr B’s letter to Mr B’s GP of 26 November 2002 (see paragraph 13) and Mr F’s letter of 20 January 2003 (see paragraph 16). 

53. Mr F sent a copy of his letter of 20 January 2003 (see paragraph 16) to the Appointed Person on 1 August 2003. In his covering letter, he said:

“Following the letter a second opinion from [Dr B] in London was obtained who concurred with [Mr B’s] diagnosis …”

54. Mr B wrote to the Appointed Person, on 12 September 2003, saying that he would ask Mr F for a more up to date report. He also said that he had still not received a copy of the application concerning his early retirement. Mr B wrote to the Appointed Person again, on 26 September 2003, referring to the letter of 14 May 2003 in which the Appointed Person had said that he would be unable to give a decision within two months. Mr B said that he was aware that input from Mr F had delayed matters, but felt that the process had stalled.

55. In response, the Appointed Person sent Mr B copies of Dr C’s memorandum of 30 July 2003, Dr H’s memorandum of 29 May 2003, Mr F’s letter of 20 January 2003 and Dr B’s letter of 26 November 2002. He said that he was awaiting a response from Mr B’s manager and the Pensions Manager and also the up to date report from Mr F. The Appointed Person disagreed that the process had stalled and said that, in his experience, the more complex disputes took several months to determine.

56. On 26 September 2003, the Appointed Person also wrote to Mr F asking that, if Mr B consented, he send a copy of the updated report to the Appointed Person as well as to Dr C.

57. Mr B wrote to the Appointed Person, on 3 October 2003, making (inter alia) the following points:

57.1. He had intended no criticism of the Appointed Person and was aware that he was experiencing staffing difficulties but wanted to point out that the interim notice issued in May 2003 had expired.

57.2. He had contacted Mr F’s office and been informed that he had been on leave for three weeks.

57.3. He had agreed to the release of his medical reports and records for the purposes of his appeal but had understood that this was to be determined by the Appointed Person. He was unhappy that the reports had been circulated to other officers in the course of the appeal and considered that this was a breach of confidentiality.

57.4. There were no set reporting forms or guidance on the interpretation and application of the Regulations. In those circumstances, it was not possible to provide a fair, balanced or objective hearing.

57.5. He was still waiting for copies of the papers submitted in the matter of his early retirement. These documents would have to be supplied to him should he make a subject access request under the data protection legislation.

57.6. Approval to appoint an independent occupational physician should have been reported to the appropriate council committee as a material change to the pensions Regulations. There had been ample time for WC to do this.

57.7. He had not been given copies of the notes of his meeting with his manager on 12 November 2002.

57.8. It was now 18 months since he had again become ill. It had taken the occupational health service nine months to reach an opinion on his fitness. He had been denied an extension of pay and left without an income.

57.9. His research of the employers’ and other public organisations’ practices (having been denied access to the Employers’ Organisation for Local Government’s Management of Ill Health Handbook) suggested that WC’s procedures fell short of good practice.

58. Mr B also set out various criticisms of reports provided by Dr H and Dr C.

59. In his response, the Appointed Person said that he had stated that the expected date of his decision would be determined by the time taken for him to receive additional information and he had not received this information. He said that his consideration of Mr B’s case must await Mr F’s further report and comments thereon from Dr H. The Appointed Person said that he had asked for comments from the relevant individuals on Mr B’s other points.

60. Mr B’s manager wrote to the Appointed Person, on 16 October 2003, enclosing a copy of the notes of a meeting with Mr B in September 2002. He said that these had been taken by the Senior Personnel Officer at the time and typed up in February 2003. He said that it was owing to his omission that they had not been sent to Mr B, but that he did not think that they added much to the overall position. Mr B’s manager said that he believed that Central Personnel had agreed to supply a copy of the report made to the Voluntary Early Retirement Panel.

61. The Pensions Manager wrote to the Appointed Person, on 17 October 2003, saying that he had no comments.

62. On 31 October 2003, the Appointed Person informed Mr B that he had still not received a further report from Mr F. Mr B responded on 9 November 2003, saying that he thought the Appointed Person would have the report by then and summarising his position again.
63. Dr C wrote to the Appointed Person, on 12 November 2003:

63.1. Mr B’s consent to the release of his medical reports had stated that he authorised the release of all medical reports and health records “in order that [his] appeal may be determined”. Her response had, therefore, been copied to those officers acting on behalf of the Council as a party to the dispute.

63.2. Mr B had given consent for her to obtain Dr B’s report. There was no significant change to Mr B’s condition and a further opinion did not need to be pursued.

64. In response to a letter, dated 17 November 2003, informing him that the Appointed Person had still not heard from Mr F, Mr B wrote, on 20 November 2003, making (inter alia) the following points:

64.1. He was furious that details of his medical history, which he found distressing, had been routinely circulated.

64.2. When he had appealed in May 2003, he had anticipated that matters would be resolved quite quickly, but this had proved not to be the case.

64.3. He was considering visiting his GP again. His GP would be prepared to write to the Appointed Person setting out how his condition affected him on an emotional and practical level. He was reluctant to ask a GP with a full patient case load to take the time to prepare a report unless absolutely necessary.

65. Mr B enclosed a copy of a letter from Mr F, dated 13 October 2003.
66. The Appointed Person also wrote to Mr B on 20 November 2003, saying that he had received Mr F’s letter of 13 October 2003 the previous day with no explanation. He asked if this was the up-to-date report Mr B had been expecting. Mr B responded on 22 November 2003, enclosing a further copy of Mr F’s letter. He said he saw no reason why it should be disclosed to his manager, the Pensions Manager or the Head of Human Resources. Mr B asked the Appointed Person to restrict the disclosure of the report to “those medically qualified to comment”.

67. On 27 November 2003, the Appointed Person sent Mr B a copy of Dr C’s memorandum, dated 12 November 2003.

68. Mr B responded on 3 December 2003, saying (inter alia) that he did not agree that the medical reports needed to be copied to his manager, the Pensions Manager or the Head of Human Resources or that he had given his consent to this.

69. The Appointed Person acknowledged this letter on 11 December 2003, and said that he was copying it to “relevant individuals” for information, but had not invited comment. He said that he would wish to reach a decision as soon as possible and had asked Dr C and Dr H to respond to Mr F’s letter as soon as possible. The Appointed Person said that Mr B might wish to make further comments and that he required time to consider the information. He suggested that a decision before Christmas was unrealistic but he intended to progress the matter as quickly as possible.

70. The Pensions Manager and the Employee Relations Manager wrote to the Appointed Person concerning Mr B’s request that certain documents, including Mr F’s letter of 13 October 2003, not be copied to them or to his manager and the Head of Human Resources. The Employee Relations Manager said that, in order that a full response to Mr B’s appeal could be prepared, it would be necessary for her and Mr B’s manager and the Head of Human Resources to see the documents in question. The Pensions Manager said that, before making any payment under the LGPS, he had to take steps to ensure that it was proper for the Council to incur pension related expenditure. He said he had to be satisfied that the payment in question was lawful, appropriately authorised, supported by relevant evidence and that no irrelevant factors had been taken into account.

71. The Appointed Person sought Mr B’s authority to copy the documents to the officers in question. Mr B responded that he was prepared to consent to disclosure provided that the Appointed Person was satisfied that the disclosure was essential and justified for the purpose of determining his appeal. He also said that it would only be fair if the papers concerning his Voluntary Early Retirement now be disclosed to him. The Appointed Person confirmed that he was satisfied that disclosure was necessary for the proper determination of Mr B’s application.
72. Mr B exchanged e-mails with the Appointed Person during February 2004, pressing for a decision. The Appointed Person said that he was waiting to hear from Dr C and Dr H.
73. The Pensions Manager wrote to Mr B on 10 March 2004, confirming that his application for voluntary early retirement had been agreed with effect from 31 March 2004. On 24 March 2004, Mr B signed a compromise agreement. This specifically excluded his ongoing claim for ill health retirement benefits.

74. The Head of Human Resources wrote to the Appointed Person, on 29 March 2004, informing him that Mr B’s employment would cease on 31 March 2004. He said that he proposed to obtain a fresh opinion from an independent Occupational Health Physician as to whether Mr B met the eligibility requirements for ill health retirement as at the date his employment ceased. The Appointed Person sent a copy of this memorandum to Mr B. In response, Mr B asked why this opinion was being sought and whether it would form part of his appeal. The Appointed Person said that he would consider any relevant evidence provided by any of the parties.

75. Mr B signed a consent form, under the Access to Medical Reports Act 1988, on 20 April 2004. He indicated that he wished to see any report before it was sent to the Council’s Occupational Health Physician.

76. Following further correspondence from Mr B, the Appointed Person wrote, on 20 July 2004, that he could not reach a decision until he had seen the report from Dr K.

77. Dr K wrote to the Appointed Person on 9 August 2004, enclosing a copy of Dr B’s letter of 8 July 2004.
78. The Appointed Person sent copies of Dr K’s memorandum and Dr B’s letter to Mr B. In his response, Mr B said that Dr B’s letter had not been sent to him in advance despite him exercising his right to see it. He said that he had been denied the right to make observations and correct any inaccuracies. The Appointed Person said he had referred Mr B’s response to Dr K, but asked if Mr B wished to let him have details of the observations/inaccuracies he wished to raise with Dr B.

79. Mr B subsequently asked the Appointed Person to disregard the reports from Dr K and Dr B on the grounds that he had not been given a copy of Dr B’s report in advance, despite having requested this. He also said that he had undergone further procedures and would be providing the Appointed Person with an updated medical report. Mr B said that it was 19 months since he had submitted his appeal and it was time to bring matters to a conclusion. He said that he would need time to prepare a summary and asked that a timetable be set for determining his appeal.
80. On 7 December 2004, Mr B sent the Appointed Person a copy of Dr Cn’s report. The Appointed Person sent a copy of Dr Cn’s report to Dr K for comment. He said that he anticipated being in a position to consider his decision when he had received Dr K’s comments. Dr K responded on 8 March 2005.
81. The Appointed Person sent a copy of Dr K’s response to Mr B on 10 March 2005. In response, Mr B again asked the Appointed Person to rule that Dr B’s letter and Dr K’s report were “inadmissible”, because Dr B’s letter had not been sent to him before it was sent to Dr K, as he had requested. He also said he wished to make a subject access request under the Data Protection legislation for all papers held by Dr K since 8 September 2004, or those held by the Occupational Health Service.

82. In his response, the Appointed Person said that he had offered Mr B the opportunity to let him have details of any observations/inaccuracies which he might have raised with Dr B but he had not responded. The Appointed Person said that he did not believe that the Access to Medical Reports Act 1988 restricted his consideration of the matter. He said that he had passed Mr B’s data access request to Dr K. The Appointed Person asked Mr B for his final submissions in order that he might reach a decision as soon as possible. He said he did not think it necessary for Mr B to wait for a response on the other issues he had raised. Mr B disagreed with the view of the Appointed Person concerning the medical reports. He also said that he wished to be sure that he had all relevant material before making his final submission. The Appointed Person asked Mr B to make his submission by 20 May 2005.

83. Mr B sent his final submission to the Appointed Person on 16 May 2005. He said it was confidential and not to be circulated without his permission. Mr B’s submission is an extensive document which it would be impractical to reproduce here. The main elements of his argument are summarised in the following Submissions section.

84. The Appointed Person acknowledged receipt of the submission on 2 June 2005 and sought Mr B’s agreement that the submission be sent to Dr K, Dr C, the Head of Human Resources, the Pensions Manager and Mr B’s manager.

85. Mr B subsequently wrote to the Appointed Person setting a deadline of 28 June 2005 for a decision. He said that, if a decision had not been issued by this date, he intended to refer the matter to the Pensions Ombudsman. In response to the Appointed Person’s request for his submission to be circulated to the other parties, Mr B said that the deadline for making submissions had passed and, if the submission was to be copied for information only, it had no bearing on the Appointed Person’s decision. He said that giving the other parties an opportunity to comment would be unfair.

86. The Appointed Person said that he had intended to circulate Mr B’s submission for information only. He offered to hold back its circulation until he had issued his decision and asked for Mr B’s agreement to this.

87. The Appointed Person issued his decision on 24 June 2005.
88. With regard to the time taken to investigate Mr B’s appeal, the Appointed Person rejected the assertion that he had allowed procrastination by the other parties or that he had tried to coerce Mr B into making his final submission.
89. On the question of confidentiality, the Appointed Person decided that the Access to Medical Reports Act 1988 did not restrict his consideration of the relevant medical evidence. He said that the Act defined “medical report” as a report “prepared by a medical practitioner who is or has been responsible for the clinical care of the individual” and “care” as including “examination … in connection with any form of medical treatment”. The Appointed Person opined that the Act did not apply where there had been no medical treatment. Further, he said that Mr B had been given ample opportunity to inform him of any observations/inaccuracies and disagreed that Mr B had not been given a fair hearing.

90. In his response, Mr B said that the Appointed Person did not have his consent to copy his submission to the other parties and he wanted details of his medical history removed from the decision document before it was copied to the other parties. He also said that he intended to appeal to the Secretary of State. The Appointed Person replied that it would have been wrong of him to reach a decision and not to copy all material relating to that decision to both parties.

91. Mr B contacted the Office of the Deputy Prime Minister (now the Department for Communities and Local Government) on 8 December 2005. The DCLG requested a response from the Appointed Person by 11 January 2006.

92. The Pensions Manager wrote to the DCLG on 9 January 2006. He referred to Regulation 27(5) and suggested that the DCLG should be aware that Mr B had taken up part-time employment since his retirement.

93. The Appointed Person responded on 10 January 2006, and said that he had copied the papers to the Pensions Manager. Mr B was sent a copy of the Appointed Person’s response, together with a copy of the Pensions Manager’s letter.

94. The Secretary of State issued his decision on 9 March 2006. The Secretary of State found:

94.1. The question for decision was whether or not Mr B ceased employment with WC on 31 March 2004 by reason of being permanently incapable of discharging efficiently the duties of that employment, or any other comparable employment with WC, because of ill health or infirmity of mind or body.

94.2. There was no evidence to show that, at the time Mr B ceased employment on 31 March 2004, he was permanently incapable and he was not, therefore, entitled to the immediate payment of benefits on ill health grounds.

94.3. The way in which an Appointed Person carries out his statutory functions is a matter for him, within the constraints of the 1997 Regulations. The Secretary of State has no jurisdiction over the Appointed Person.

94.4. The fact that the Appointed Person did not issue a decision within the two months required by Regulation 101 might amount to maladministration. However, he had no powers to award compensation or order redress even if it was shown that maladministration had occurred.

94.5. The question of how a medical practitioner assesses an individual is a matter for their professional judgement. It is not a question which can be decided by the Secretary of State nor can he consider issues relating to breach of confidentiality, failure to provide information or failure to investigate complaints.

SUBMISSIONS

Mr B

95. Mr B submits:

95.1. All three of WC’s medical advisers accepted that he was unfit for work at the time of assessing him. Mr F and Mr Cn have confirmed that his condition is permanent. WC has classified him as disabled under the DDA95. Therefore, they accept that his condition has a substantial and long term adverse effect upon his ability to carry out normal day to day activities and, by association, he is not capable of discharging efficiently the duties of his contracted employment in accordance with Regulation 27.

95.2. As he had been classified as disabled, WC was obliged to make reasonable adjustments to his working arrangements to accommodate his condition. Part time working had been recommended but was not implemented. However, part time work would not meet the requirements of “comparable employment” under Regulation 27. The failure to make any adjustments to his working arrangements precipitated his departure.

95.3. Mr F saw no foreseeable improvement in the near future and said that there was a tendency for the symptoms to worsen. He has stated unequivocally that Mr B’s condition is permanent, that there was nothing to be gained from further surgery and that the best Mr B could hope for was to “manage” his condition. This opinion has never been contested by WC’s medical advisers. As someone who had carried out four operations on him, Mr F was best placed to make such judgements. Dr K had said that he could be troubled by further recurrence of his symptoms.

95.4. Dr B acknowledged the long history of his condition and his severe symptoms but appeared to suggest that his condition was temporary. She did not address Mr F’s opinion.
95.5. He did not recognise the symptoms referred to by Dr B. In subsequent correspondence, Dr B said that his case was not typical and that her response to Dr K could not be regarded as a current medical report. It could not, therefore, form the basis for an accurate or specific opinion on his long term prognosis.

95.6. Dr K reached her conclusions on the basis of a report obtained unlawfully from Dr B. Her comments were grossly speculative; contrary to the requirements of the Regulations for an unequivocal statement and to the recommendations from the GMC, i.e. that doctors providing reports for third parties should include only information they substantiate. His symptoms have not, as implied by Dr K, evaporated. He does have periods when he is symptom-free, as stated by Dr Cn, but that is the nature of his condition. Dr K did not consider his fitness for employment in the context of the demands of a senior management position. Dr K relied heavily on the report provided by Dr B and her views on the treatment options available to him. For example, Dr K asked Dr B to comment on his IBS and whether he had exhausted all treatment options. Dr B’s comments were too general to offer a reliable opinion on his long-term prognosis.
95.7. Dr Cn confirmed the diagnosis of his condition, noted that it is exacerbated by stress and anxiety, and confirmed that his symptoms are likely to continue. He also explored other management options (as suggested by Dr B) and none has been identified.

95.8. It was not the case that he was resistant to the course of action suggested by Dr C; he had been informed that there was a 14 month waiting list for a consultation with a psychiatrist and he could not afford to go privately. He was without income and WC refused to pay towards costs incurred in obtaining medical reports.

95.9. In view of the weight attached to treatment options, it is surprising that neither WC’s medical advisers nor the Appointed Person sought the opinion of an independent consultant psychiatrist.

95.10. He had been offered permanent part-time (job share) work in February 2004. Had he accepted the offer of part-time work, this would have been irreversible. This could not be regarded as comparable employment. The Secretary of State has determined that it is not sufficient to determine that a member is capable of performing the duties of a hypothetical employment; it must be an actual job that exists and one that can be offered to the member at the time retirement is being considered. This view was confirmed in a subsequent circular to employing authorities.
95.11. WC failed to address the requirements of the LGPS Regulations. In particular, it:

· failed to have regard to his capacity to undertake the functions of his contracted employment;

· failed to consider his job content;

· undertook an incomplete assessment of his disability.
95.12. WC breached his confidentiality by allowing the disclosure of personal information to officers with no right or need to know. The “need to know” would not have extended to his line manager, a pensions administrator or a committee clerk.
95.13. There were breaches of the Access to Medical Reports Act 1988, which were prejudicial to his case and which were condoned by the Appointed Person. Dr C and Dr H routinely copied reports to officers without his express permission, none of whom had the right to such details. Had his consent been sought, it would have been resisted. Mr B cites de Taranto v Cornelius [2001] EWCA Civ 1511.
95.14. The Appointed Person should have refused to consider Dr K’s report on the grounds that Mr B had not had sight of Dr B’s letter to Dr K.

95.15. WC failed to provide information connected to his case, which had been reasonably requested.

· He requested sight of the Local Government Employers’ Organisation “Management of Ill Health Handbook” but this was refused on the grounds that it was not relevant.

· He was not provided with a copy of Dr H’s memorandum of October 2002 or her report of October 2003, his manager’s report to the Appointed Person of January 2004 or the notes of a meeting between himself and his manager in November 2002.

· He was only much later provided with a copy of the papers prepared in respect of his voluntary early retirement and a report prepared by his manager in March 2004.
95.16. He was forced to look elsewhere for relevant information. In particular, he refers to the “Guidance Manual for Approved Doctors of the LGPS” and a paper entitled “Ill health retirement – Guidelines for occupational physicians”, written by a working party of the Association of Local Authority Medical Advisers. He has been advised that these guidelines have been incorporated into the Management of Ill Health Handbook and, therefore, that document was of relevance to his case and should have been disclosed to him.

95.17. WC failed to properly investigate his complaints. In particular, the Appointed Person did not issue his decision within the two months required by Regulation 101(1), and failed to issue an interim reply as required by Regulation 101(2).
95.18. When he complained, to WC, about the conduct of staff in providing information about his sickness record to the Appointed Person, his complaint was not upheld. The investigating officer did not ask to see documentary evidence in his possession. These included e-mails, notes of conversations with his solicitor and telephone records, which logged the time, date, duration and destination of calls he made on days when he had pre-booked leave. This was an attempt to influence the Appointed Person and, whilst it did not affect the outcome of the IDR investigation, should be independently investigated.
95.19. Neither independent medical adviser had regard to his capacity to undertake the functions of his contracted employment. The job description held by Dr H did not bear much relation to his then current duties, as evidenced by the later (2003) version. The post had evolved quite significantly since 1993 and assimilated a number of fresh responsibilities both at a regional and business planning level.
95.20. The job descriptions provided to TPAS suggested that his job had been re-graded some time in 2001 or 2002, in his absence. This would have a bearing on his pensionable pay and benefits.
95.21. There is nothing in the 1997 Regulations which precluded the Secretary of State from considering his dispute in relation to WC’s November 2002 decision.

95.22. The Secretary of State accepted that he had been incapable of discharging efficiently the duties of his former employment at the time that employment ceased. He did not find that the evidence indicated that the requirement for permanence had been met. This evidence had been provided by Mr F.
95.23. It is his understanding that, where there is a finding in an applicant’s favour, the Ombudsman will make a direction aimed at putting the applicant back in the position he would have been in, had the maladministration not occurred. As a direct result of WC’s maladministration, delays and process failings, he has incurred legal costs totalling over £13,000, quite apart from medical expenses and loss of salary.
WC

96. WC submits:

96.1. On 31 March 2004, Mr B did not meet the requirements of Regulation 27.

96.2. The Standing Order was invoked as a result of an amendment to the LGPS, which required WC to obtain a medical certificate, under Regulation 97, from an independent medical practitioner, who had not had previous involvement with the case in question. The purpose of the Standing Order was to acknowledge this amendment and give WC the authority to appoint another independent medical practitioner. The wording of the Standing Order could not and did not change the legal position of WC, which remained the responsible body under Regulation 97. Their practices did not change.

96.3. It was open to it to obtain a further medical opinion and to question a medical opinion. It was not necessary to do so, in this case, because Dr H met the requirements of Regulation 97(9A) and there was no reason to question her considered opinion.

96.4. With regard to the Appointed Person’s decision, he was still receiving medical evidence between December 2004 and April 2005. Mr B’s final submission (amounting to 29 pages) was not received until 17 May 2005. Mr B was informed, in a letter dated 14 May 2003, that it was likely that a decision could not be issued within two months. From May 2003 to June 2005, the Appointed Person and Mr B corresponded by letter and e-mail in excess of 50 times. This demonstrates the continuous efforts made to progress this case.

96.5. The Appointed Person considered it would have been unrealistic and unhelpful to Mr B not to merge his review of the 2002 decision with the 2004 decision. Mr B had said, in an e-mail of 3 April 2004, that he had no objection, in principle, to this course of action. If Mr B had objected, the Appointed Person would have acted differently.
96.6. The Appointed Person referred to the opinions expressed by Mr F and Dr Cn as “narrowly based” because neither opinion addressed the question of treatment options for the stress and anxiety aspects of Mr B’s condition, despite the fact that both had mentioned this aspect. The Appointed Person observed that Mr F had not commented on the possibility of alternative treatments for stress and anxiety or the possible efficacy of alternative treatments. The basis for his comment concerning the opinions being narrowly based ought, therefore, to be clear.

The DCLG

97. The DCLG submits:

97.1. The Secretary of State reached a proper, reasonable and timely decision, based on the evidence available to him and in accordance with the relevant regulations.

97.2. The Secretary of State properly acted on the basis that the Appointed Person’s decision was not perverse in law or in fact so as to require him to interfere with that decision.

97.3. In considering whether Mr B met the criteria for the immediate payment of benefits on ill-health grounds, the Secretary of State fully took into account all relevant contemporaneous medical evidence. He considered in particular the comments by Mr F, Dr Cn and Dr K, which were broadly contemporaneous with 31 March 2004 (the date that Mr B ceased employment).

97.4. Dr K is an appropriately qualified medical practitioner, within the meaning of the Regulations.

97.5. In her report of 8 March 2005, Dr K opined that all the consultants who had seen Mr B had concluded that his major problem was IBS, which was exacerbated, although not necessarily caused, by stress and anxiety. She noted that a number of treatments had been recommended, over the years, for stress management, including referral to a psychiatrist and for cognitive behavioural therapy. In Dr K’s opinion, the latter has an excellent record of success for treating stress related conditions, including IBS. She found no evidence that these treatments had been fully explored and, therefore, concluded that Mr B was not permanently unfit for his own or comparable work, up to the age of 65. Dr K did note that Mr B could be troubled by a recurrence of symptoms at some time in the future.

97.6. The Secretary of State took Dr K’s evidence into account. In doing so and in placing reliance on the evidence of a suitably qualified medical practitioner, his statements are not incompatible or contradictory, as alleged by Mr B.

97.7. The fact that Dr K took reports from other medical practitioners into account in reaching her opinion is not incompatible with the requirements of the Regulations.

97.8. Dr B is a gastroenterologist. The Secretary of State does not consider that there is any flaw in the process for Dr K to take Dr B’s report into account in reaching her conclusions.

97.9. Having taken all the evidence into account and in the light of Dr K’s comment that not all treatment had been fully explored, the Secretary of State found no evidence to show, either conclusively or on the balance of probabilities, that, at the time Mr B ceased employment with WC, he was permanently incapable of discharging efficiently the duties of his former employment because of ill-health or infirmity of mind or body, so as to render the decision of the Appointed Person perverse, wrong in law or wrong on the facts.

CONCLUSIONS

98. The central issue here is Mr B’s eligibility for a pension under Regulation 27 (see Appendix 1). A pension is payable, under Regulation 27, if the member is permanently incapable of discharging efficiently the duties of his employment or any other comparable employment with his employing authority because of ill-health or infirmity of mind or body.  ‘Permanently incapable’ and ‘Comparable employment’ are defined at Regulation 27(5).
99. Mr B’s eligibility under Regulation 27 has been considered on two occasions: in 2002 and in 2004.

100. In October 2002, Mr B was seen by Dr H. Following this consultation, Dr H signed a certificate to the effect that she did not consider Mr B to be permanently incapable. In her covering memorandum, Dr H said that she felt that Mr B needed further specialist advice. She went on to say that, if further treatment was available, which would improve Mr B’s symptoms, a return to work could not be ruled out. However, she also said that, if the second opinion she had recommended failed to offer any therapeutic alternatives, alternative work or termination of employment might have to be considered. Dr H suggested a review after two months.
101. Mr B has suggested that Dr H was premature in signing the certificate. Dr H later said that she was, at that time, of the opinion that Mr B was suffering from two conditions, both of which she felt would be responsive to treatment. This, however, would not have been apparent to WC when it received the certificate from Dr H. What Dr H’s memorandum suggests is that she was not, in October 2002, yet in a position to sign a certificate. It would have been more appropriate, at this point, for WC to either ask for further clarification from Dr H or to wait until the second opinion, to which she referred, was available.
102. WC seemed to believe that it was required to accept Dr H’s opinion at this stage and, therefore, simply informed Mr B that Dr H had signed a certificate stating that he was not permanently incapable.

103. The April 2002 Standing Order provided by WC, states that all decisions concerning whether a Council employee in the LGPS is eligible for early retirement on the grounds of ill-health must be taken by an independent registered medical practitioner. This is not quite what the Regulations say. Regulation 97 (see paragraph 2, Appendix 1) states that any question as to whether a person is entitled to a benefit must be decided by the LGPS employer who last employed him. Regulation 97(9) states that, before making a decision as to whether the member is entitled to a pension under Regulation 27, the employer must obtain a certificate from an independent registered medical practitioner as to whether in his opinion the member is permanently incapable. The decision, however, remains with the employer. On this point, WC and I now appear to be in agreement.
104. Having received Dr H’s memorandum and certificate, it was open to WC to seek clarification as to why Dr H had signed the certificate to the effect that Mr B was not permanently incapable, whilst also suggesting that there was a possibility that alternative work or termination of Mr B’s employment might have to be considered. Despite its protestations to the contrary, the evidence (the Standing Order and its failure to clarify Dr H’s certificate) indicates that WC felt itself to be bound by Dr H’s certificate when it was not.

105. In summary, therefore, before considering Mr B for ill health retirement, WC was required to obtain an opinion from an appropriately qualified medical practitioner, i.e. Dr H or Dr C, at that time. WC should then have actively considered the advice it received from Dr H, together with the requisite certificate, and made a decision. How Dr H formed her opinion is not prescribed in the Regulations and is a matter for her. I am conscious that Mr B has expressed a critical view of his consultation with Dr H, but I do not consider Dr H’s methodology to be a matter for my consideration. WC is entitled to rely upon the advice it receives from its medical advisers but this should not amount to an unquestioning acceptance of that advice.
106. In view of the fact that Mr B did not agree with the decision not to pay a pension under Regulation 27, the next step was for him to appeal, which he duly did. That appeal is made to an Appointed Person under Regulation 99. It would be appropriate, at this stage, for an appellant to be given the opportunity to present his own evidence in support of his case and this opportunity was afforded to Mr B.
107. In support of his case, Mr B submitted reports from Mr F.
108. Mr F offered the opinion that Mr B’s condition was “quite limiting” and that his symptoms were exacerbated by stress and anxiety. In a later letter, Mr F offered the opinion that Mr B’s “episodes” would continue in their then present form, that travelling and employment away from home would be difficult, that it was unlikely that Mr B’s symptoms would improve and that there would be further deterioration in those symptoms. Mr F also said that there was no specific treatment for Mr B’s condition and that it was unlikely that Mr B would be able to “work effectively at the level of employment he [had] been used to”. Mr B has said that Mr F is of the opinion that there is little to be gained from further surgery and that the best he can hope for is to manage his condition.
109. Mr B has suggested that, as a surgeon who has performed four operations on him, Mr F is best placed to offer an opinion as to his capacity. I agree that, as a treating physician, Mr F’s opinion should carry appropriate weight. However, I think it would be a mistake to believe that his was the only opinion worthy of note and, in any event, Mr F does not meet the requirements of the Regulations for signing the certificate required by Regulation 97(9).
110. It is then for the Appointed Person to weigh up the evidence presented by the parties to the appeal before making a decision. It was appropriate, in Mr B’s case, for the Appointed Person to seek comment from WC’s medical advisers and also from officers within WC.

111. Mr B has expressed considerable concern about a lack of confidentiality during the process of considering his eligibility under Regulation 27; both at the initial stages and during his appeal. There is a fine line to be drawn here. I have considerable sympathy with Mr B in not wanting his personal medical details to be a matter for widespread consumption. However, it is the fact that WC, as embodied in its officers, is required to make a decision under Regulation 97 and, in order to do so, its officers must have access to the relevant information. The requirements of the Regulations will inevitably mean that medical information is disclosed to officers of the employing authority. Such disclosure clearly should be kept to a minimum, on a “need to know” basis.

112. I have considered the disclosure of information by WC during its decision making process and, later, during the appeal. Some of those to whom information was disclosed were already aware of Mr B’s circumstances, for example, Mr B’s manager. Others were part of the decision making process, for example, the Personnel and Pensions officers. I can readily understand that Mr B found the whole process distressing, but I am not persuaded that information about Mr B’s health was handled in such a way as to amount to maladministration on the part of WC. Having said that, I consider that more could have been done to reassure Mr B that disclosure was being kept to a minimum - perhaps by discussing the issue with him at the outset. It is unfortunate, but something that members will have to accept, that a decision under Regulation 27 will involve disclosure of this nature because the employing authority, rather than the medical officers, is required to make the decision.
113. The issue Mr B has raised concerning the Access to Medical Records Reports Act 1988 is a separate matter. I will deal with this a later stage.
114. The Appointed Person sought opinions from Dr H and Dr C, having been the medical practitioners advising WC at the time of the first decision. In her response to the Appointed Person, Dr H provided further clarification of her initial opinion, which goes some way towards redressing the flaw I identified in the initial process.

115. Dr H explained that she had been of the opinion that Mr B was suffering from two conditions, neither of which precluded work and each of which could be expected to respond to treatment. Dr C had seen Mr B after the initial decision not to pay a pension under Regulation 27. Although Dr C had said that she was unable to predict when or if Mr B would be well enough to return to work, she had endorsed Dr H’s certificate. Her letter to WC indicates that she had discussed with Mr B a “course of action”, which she felt was most likely to improve his condition, and that he had advised her that Dr B had recommended the same course of action. The nature of this course of action was not mentioned. It appears from subsequent correspondence (and confirmed by Mr B) to have been consultation with a psychiatrist. Following her initial letter to WC, Dr C saw Dr B’s letter to Mr B’s GP, and stated that it had not changed her opinion. Dr C subsequently wrote to the Appointed Person saying that, in her opinion, Mr B was disabled, as defined by the DDA95, but also confirming her opinion that Mr B was not permanently incapable.

116. In her letter to Mr B’s GP, Dr B had offered the opinion that Mr B was depressed and probably had a functional bowel disorder. She did not offer an opinion as to his capacity for work and, I note, she had not, at that point, had the benefit of reviewing previous investigations, although she had requested the results of these.
117. This is the extent of the medical opinion available in respect of the first decision not to pay Mr B a pension under Regulation 27. This is the decision which was the subject of Mr B’s appeal. Mr B has been highly critical of the time taken for the Appointed Person to review this decision. One of the reasons for the delay is, I believe, that the review was overtaken by, and merged with, WC’s decision to review Mr B’s eligibility for a second time on his retirement in 2004. Had the Appointed Person remained with the initial question, i.e. whether WC’s refusal to pay a pension under Regulation 27 in 2002 was correct, it should have been possible for him to reach a decision at an earlier date. In actual fact, Mr B submitted a complaint under the IDR procedure in April 2003, but the Appointed Person did not issue his decision until June 2005. I am willing to believe that the Appointed Person had the best of intentions, but this timescale indicates that his investigation was not well managed.
118. Mr B has pointed out that the Appointed Person did not issue an interim report, as required by Regulation 101(2). It cannot be said, however, that Mr B was unaware of what was happening or that there was a lack of communication between him and the Appointed Person. Whilst there might not have been an “interim report” as such, I am satisfied that there was sufficient communication between the Appointed Person and Mr B to offset any possible injustice arising out of a failure to comply with Regulation 101(2).

119. In fact, the Appointed Person reached a decision which related to Mr B’s eligibility under Regulation 27, both in 2002 and 2004. I have seen no evidence that WC has separately taken a decision in respect of Mr B’s eligibility in 2004, but this is not surprising in view of its apparent belief that the decision was to be taken by the medical adviser.
120. There are certain well established principles for a decision maker to follow in such cases: only relevant matters should be taken into account and no irrelevant matters, rules and regulations must be correctly interpreted, the decision maker should not be misdirected as to the law and the decision should not be perverse. By perverse, I mean the decision should not be one which no other decision maker, in the same circumstances, could reasonably have reached.

121. I have already said that WC misinterpreted Regulation 97, in that it stated that the decision had to be taken by its medical adviser. In view of this, I find that WC did not properly reach a decision in 2002, nor again in 2004.
122. With regard to the Appointed Person’s decision, I am satisfied that only relevant matters were taken into account, that the Regulations were correctly interpreted and that the Appointed Person was not misdirected as to the law. Whether the decision could be said to be perverse rests on the reasons for that decision and the evidence relied upon.
123. The Appointed Person clearly set out his reasons for his decision in his stage one IDR procedure response. The Appointed Person said that he preferred the evidence offered by Dr H, Dr K and Dr B to that of the “more narrowly based” opinions of Mr F and Dr Cn. It is not immediately obvious to me why, when Dr Cn and Dr B are both Gastroenterologists, that the Appointed Person felt that Dr Cn’s opinion should be more narrowly based. WC has suggested that this was because neither Mr F nor Dr Cn had expressed an opinion on alternative treatment.
124. Mr B has objected to inclusion of evidence from Dr K and Dr B on the grounds that he had not been afforded the opportunity to see Dr B’s report prior to its issue, contrary to the provisions of the Access to Medical Reports Act 1988. With regard to Dr K’s and Dr B’s roles, this matter has been more properly dealt with in another forum and I do not intend to comment any further here. The question of whether the Appointed Person should have disregarded Dr B’s second letter and Dr K’s subsequent report is, I believe, a matter I should consider.
125. The Access to Medical Reports Act provides for an individual to have access to any medical report relating to him, which has been prepared by a medical practitioner for employment purposes. Where an individual has requested access, the report should not be issued until the individual has agreed and the individual has the right to ask the medical practitioner to amend the report. A medical practitioner is not obliged to amend a report but an individual can ask for his own comments to be appended to the report if it is not amended.
126. Mr B’s concern relates to the second of Dr B’s letters, written to Dr K, prior to Dr K’s response to the Appointed Person. I do not disagree with Mr B that, having requested sight of Dr B’s report before its issue, he should have been provided with a copy before its issue. I note, however, that he was given an opportunity to comment on the report prior to the Appointed Person reaching a decision. That, I believe, will have addressed any injustice to Mr B and I am not persuaded that the Appointed Person was required to disregard Dr B’s letter, and much less that he was required to disregard Dr K’s report. Having reviewed Dr K’s report, I note that her opinion, that Mr B was not permanently incapable, was based on her view that all treatment options had not been exhausted. Despite Mr B’s assertions, I am not persuaded that Dr B’s letter was a significant influence in Dr K reaching this conclusion.
127. Dr H, Dr C and Dr K were of the opinion that there were treatment options available to Mr B which had a strong chance of ameliorating his symptoms to the extent that he would be able to return to comparable work some time before his 65th birthday. Mr F had offered a less optimistic opinion.
128. The evidence does indicate that there were treatment options which Mr B did not appear to have explored in full, i.e. referral to a psychiatrist and cognitive behavioural therapy. The Appointed Person noted Dr K’s comment to the effect that Mr F, as a Consultant Surgeon, would not be able to offer treatment for stress and anxiety. Indeed, Mr F had not commented on the possible efficacy of alternative treatments.

129. The decision is a finely balanced one and I do have some sympathy for Mr B in dealing with a distressing condition. However, I am not persuaded that he has been able to show that the Appointed Person’s decision was perverse.

130. The second stage of the IDR procedure was dealt with by the Secretary of State (DCLG). The focus of the Secretary of State’s decision was Mr B’s eligibility under Regulation 27 in 2004. I agree with Mr B that there was nothing to prevent the Secretary of State from considering the position in 2002. However, since the decision was to the effect that Mr B was not permanently incapable in 2004, a different decision would be unlikely for 2002.
131. The Secretary of State’s decision was largely based on the opinion, given by Dr K, to the effect that there were treatment options which had not been fully explored. The Secretary of State did not find that Mr B was permanently incapable. Mr B argues that Mr F had provided evidence of the permanent nature of his condition. The test in Regulation 27 is not, of course, whether the member is suffering from a permanent condition but whether he is, on the balance of probabilities, permanently incapable of discharging efficiently the duties of his employment. I am not persuaded that Mr B has shown that the Secretary of State’s decision was incompatible or contradictory.
132. There are a number of other issues which Mr B has raised and I will deal with them here.

133. On the question of the DDA95, Mr B has suggested that, because WC accepted that he was disabled within the meaning of the DDA95, it accepted that he was permanently incapable. There will, of course, be cases where a member meets the requirements of both Regulation 27 and the DDA95. However, it does not follow that a member who is disabled within the meaning of the DDA95 necessarily meets the requirements of Regulation 27, because the qualifying criteria for each is different. The key issue for Mr B was showing that he would be permanently incapable, i.e. until his 65th birthday. This is not required for the DDA95.

134. On the question of comparable employment, I agree with Mr B that part time employment would not meet the requirements of “comparable employment” as defined in the Regulations. The Regulations specifically provide that hours of work in the comparable employment should not differ substantially. However, the offer of part time work, regardless of whether it would be a permanent arrangement or not, is not sufficient to show that Mr B is permanently incapable because it does not, of itself, show that he has met the permanency requirement. The question is what employment the member is capable of undertaking, not what he is offered. I do agree that comparable employment must be with the same employing authority, but I am not persuaded that it must be available at the time the member ceases employment. If a member was capable of comparable employment with his employing authority, but there was no vacancy at the time of leaving, he would not be ceasing employment because he was incapable of that role but because the authority was not able, at that time, to offer him that role.
135. On the question of withholding information, whilst I would agree that WC was slow and sometimes reluctant to provide information requested by Mr B, I am not persuaded that he has suffered any injustice as a consequence. Mr B has identified certain documents which he believes were necessary for him to prepare his appeal, e.g. “Guidance Manual for Approved Doctors of the LGPS”. I am not persuaded that such documents were a necessary part of Mr B’s appeal and were not referred to by the Appointed Person. The key question was whether Mr B met the requirements of Regulation 27. He had access to Regulation 27 and the medical evidence before the Appointed Person. This was ample for him to prepare his appeal.

136. On the question of a relevant job description, I acknowledge that there has been some confusion as to which was the relevant job description, and Mr B has raised concern that Dr H was not provided with an up to date job description. I have reviewed the various job descriptions provided and, whilst there are a number of changes to the duties involved, the nature of the post remained largely the same over the period in question, i.e. a senior manager’s role. I am not persuaded that there was any detriment to Mr B if Dr H had the 1993 version instead of the 2003 version. I also note that Mr B received arrears of pension and lump sum to take account of the eventual re-grading of his post.
137. Mr B has expressed concern that WC did not uphold his complaint about the conduct of particular members of its staff. Internal disciplinary matters are not my concern. Mr B has, himself, acknowledged that there was no effect on the outcome of the IDR investigation. I do not consider it necessary to review this matter further.
138. Mr B has submitted a claim for £13,000 in legal and other fees. He does so on the basis that he should be put in the position he would have been in but for maladministration on the part of WC. This principle does apply in certain circumstances, but it does not mean that legal fees automatically form part of any redress I might direct for the maladministration I identify. In Mr B’s case, I do not consider that the nature of his case is such that he could not have pursued his case without specialist legal advice. I am also conscious of the fact that free advice was available to him from other sources, such as the pensions advisory service, TPAS, and that it costs the applicant nothing to use my services. I am not persuaded that it would be appropriate for me to direct the payment of Mr B’s legal costs.
Summary

139. In summary, I find:

139.1. WC failed to make a decision under Regulation 97 because it believed that the decision was to be taken by its medical adviser. However, that flaw in the process was addressed by the IDR procedure insofar as it offered the opportunity for the failure to make a decision to be addressed.
139.2. Mr B has not shown that the decision reached by the Appointed Person was perverse.

139.3. The Appointed Person could have reached a decision at an earlier date, had his investigation been more focussed and tightly managed. This amounts to maladministration and will have caused Mr B a certain amount of distress and inconvenience at a difficult time. It is appropriate that this distress and inconvenience should be recognised.
139.4. Whilst I recognise Mr B’s concern about the confidentiality of certain information, I do not find that there has been maladministration on the part of WC in the way that information was shared.

139.5. WC could have been more co-operative in providing information at Mr B’s request but there was no detriment to him in the preparation of his appeal.

139.6. Mr B has not shown that the decision by the Secretary of State was incompatible and contradictory.

DIRECTIONS

140. I now direct that, within 28 days of the date hereof, WC shall pay Mr B £250 in recognition of the distress and inconvenience caused by the extended review of the decision in 2002 not to pay a pension under Regulation 27.

CHARLIE GORDON

Deputy Pensions Ombudsman

28 November 2007

APPENDIX 1

Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 1997 (as amended) (as at April 2002)

141. At the time Mr B was first considered for ill health retirement, Regulation 27 provided:

“(1)
Where a member leaves a local government employment by reason of being permanently incapable of discharging efficiently the duties of that employment or any other comparable employment with his employing authority because of ill-health or infirmity of mind or body, he is entitled to an ill-health pension and grant.

(2)
The pension and grant are payable immediately.

…

(5)
In paragraph (1)- 

“comparable employment” means employment in which, when compared with the member's employment-

(a)
the contractual provisions as to capacity either are the same or differ only to an extent that is reasonable given the nature of the member's ill-health or infirmity of mind or body; and

(b)
the contractual provisions as to place, remuneration, hours of work, holiday entitlement, sickness or injury entitlement and other material terms do not differ substantially from those of the member's employment; and

“permanently incapable” means incapable until, at the earliest, the member's 65th birthday.”

142. Regulations 97 provided:

“(1)
Any question concerning the rights or liabilities under the Scheme of any person other than a Scheme employer must be decided in the first instance by the person specified in this regulation.

(2)
Any question whether a person is entitled to a benefit under the Scheme must be decided by the Scheme employer who last employed him.

(3)
That decision must be made as soon as is reasonably practicable after the employment ends.

(4)
Where a person is or may become entitled to a benefit payable out of a pension fund, the administering authority maintaining that fund must decide its amount.

…


(9)
Before making a decision as to whether a member may be entitled under regulation 27 or under regulation 31 on the ground of ill-health, the Scheme employer must obtain a certificate from an independent registered medical practitioner as to whether in his opinion the member is permanently incapable of discharging efficiently the duties of the relevant local government employment because of ill-health or infirmity of mind or body.

(9A)
The independent registered medical practitioner must be in a position to certify, and must include in his certification a statement, that -

(a)
he has not previously advised, or given an opinion on, or otherwise been involved in the particular case for which the certificate has been requested; and

(b)
he is not acting, and has not at any time acted, as the representative of the member, the Scheme employer or any other party in relation to the same case. 

…

(14)
In paragraph (9)-

(a)
“permanently incapable” has the meaning given by regulation 27(5), and

(b)
“qualified in occupational health medicine” means holding a diploma in occupational medicine (D Occ Med) or an equivalent qualification issued by a competent authority in an EEA State (which has the meaning given by the European Specialist Medical Qualifications Order 1995) or being an Associate, a Member or a Fellow of the Faculty of Occupational Medicine or an equivalent institution of an EEA State.”

143. Regulation 99 provided:

“(1)
Each administering authority must appoint a panel of persons they consider to be suitably qualified for the purpose of resolving disagreements in respect of which an application is made under regulation 100 in cases where they are the appropriate administering authority.

(2)
For this Chapter an administering authority are the appropriate administering authority as respects such a disagreement if -
(a)
where the person making the application is a member or prospective member, they are or were his last appropriate administering authority for the other purposes of these Regulations, and
(b)
where the person making the application is the widow, widower or surviving dependant of a deceased member, they were his appropriate administering authority.

(2)
For this Chapter the persons appointed under paragraph (1) are “appointed persons”.
…

(4)
An application must not be referred to a person who has previously been involved in the subject matter of the disagreement.

…

(7)
Each administering authority shall determine -
(a)
the procedure to be followed by the persons appointed by them when exercising their functions as appointed persons, and
(b)
the manner in which those functions are to be exercised.”
144. Regulation 101 provided:

“(1)
A decision on the matters raised by an application under regulation 100 must be issued by the appropriate appointed person - 

(a) to the applicant,
(b) to the Scheme employer, and
(c) if the Scheme employer is not the appropriate administering authority, to that authority,

by notice in writing before the expiry of the period of two months beginning with the date the application was received.

(2)
But, if no such notice is issued before the expiry of that period, an interim reply must immediately be sent to those persons, setting out the reasons for the delay and an expected date for issuing the decision.
(3)
…”
The Disability Discrimination Act 1995 (DDA95)

145. The DDA95 defines disability and disabled person as follows:

“Meaning of “disability” and “disabled person” 

(1) Subject to the provisions of Schedule 1, a person has a disability for the purposes of this Act if he has a physical or mental impairment which has a substantial and long-term adverse effect on his ability to carry out normal day-to-day activities. 

(2) In this Act “disabled person” means a person who has a disability.”

146. Schedule 1 contains supplementary provisions relating to Section 1 above. With regard to the long term effects of a disability, it provides:
“Long-term effects 

2 (1) The effect of an impairment is a long-term effect if— 

(a) it has lasted at least 12 months; 

(b) the period for which it lasts is likely to be at least 12 months; or 

(c) it is likely to last for the rest of the life of the person affected. 

(2) Where an impairment ceases to have a substantial adverse effect on a person’s ability to carry out normal day-to-day activities, it is to be treated as continuing to have that effect if that effect is likely to recur. 

(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2), the likelihood of an effect recurring shall be disregarded in prescribed circumstances. 

(4) Regulations may prescribe circumstances in which, for the purposes of this Act— 

(a) an effect which would not otherwise be a long-term effect is to be treated as such an effect; or 

(b) an effect which would otherwise be a long-term effect is to be treated as not being such an effect.”
Access to Medical Reports Act 1988

147. The Access to Medical Reports Act 1988 provides:

“1
Right of access 

It shall be the right of an individual to have access, in accordance with the provisions of this Act, to any medical report relating to the individual which is to be, or has been, supplied by a medical practitioner for employment purposes or insurance purposes.

2
Interpretation 

(1)
In this Act - 
“the applicant” means the person referred to in section 3(1) below;

“care” includes examination, investigation or diagnosis for the purposes of, or in connection with, any form of medical treatment;

“employment purposes”, in the case of any individual, means the purposes in relation to the individual of any person by whom he is or has been, or is seeking to be, employed (whether under a contract of service or otherwise);

“health professional” has the same meaning as in the Data Protection (Subject Access Modification) (Health) Order 1987;

…
“medical practitioner” means a person registered under the Medical Act 1983;

“medical report”, in the case of an individual, means a report relating to the physical or mental health of the individual prepared by a medical practitioner who is or has been responsible for the clinical care of the individual.

(2)
Any reference in this Act to the supply of a medical report for employment or insurance purposes shall be construed - 

(a)
as a reference to the supply of such a report for employment or insurance purposes which are purposes of the person who is seeking to be supplied with it; or 

(b)
(in the case of a report that has already been supplied) as a reference to the supply of such a report for employment or insurance purposes which, at the time of its being supplied, were purposes of the person to whom it was supplied. 

3
Consent to applications for medical reports for employment or insurance purposes 

(1)
A person shall not apply to a medical practitioner for a medical report relating to any individual to be supplied to him for employment or insurance purposes unless - 
(a)
that person (“the applicant”) has notified the individual that he proposes to make the application; and 

(b)
the individual has notified the applicant that he consents to the making of the application. 

(2)
Any notification given under subsection (1)(a) above must inform the individual of his right to withhold his consent to the making of the application, and of the following rights under this Act, namely - 

(a)
the rights arising under sections 4(1) to (3) and 6(2) below with respect to access to the report before or after it is supplied, 

(b)
the right to withhold consent under subsection (1) of section 5 below, and 

(c)
the right to request the amendment of the report under subsection (2) of that section, 

...

4
Access to reports before they are supplied 

(1)
An individual who gives his consent under section 3 above to the making of an application shall be entitled, when giving his consent, to state that he wishes to have access to the report to be supplied in response to the application before it is so supplied; and, if he does so, the applicant shall - 
(a)
notify the medical practitioner of that fact at the time when the application is made, and 

(b)
at the same time notify the individual of the making of the application; 

and each such notification shall contain a statement of the effect of subsection (2) below.

(2)
Where a medical practitioner is notified by the applicant under subsection (1) above that the individual in question wishes to have access to the report before it is supplied, the practitioner shall not supply the report unless - 

(a)
he has given the individual access to it and any requirements of section 5 below have been complied with, or 

(b)
the period of 21 days beginning with the date of the making of the application has elapsed without his having received any communication from the individual concerning arrangements for the individual to have access to it. 

(3)
Where a medical practitioner - 

(a)
receives an application for a medical report to be supplied for employment or insurance purposes without being notified by the applicant as mentioned in subsection (1) above, but 

(b)
before supplying the report receives a notification from the individual that he wishes to have access to the report before it is supplied, 

the practitioner shall not supply the report unless -
(i)
he has given the individual access to it and any requirements of section 5 below have been complied with, or 

(ii)
the period of 21 days beginning with the date of that notification has elapsed without his having received (either with that notification or otherwise) any communication from the individual concerning arrangements for the individual to have access to it. 

(4)
References in this section and section 5 below to giving an individual access to a medical report are references to - 

(a)
making the report or a copy of it available for his inspection; or 

(b)
supplying him with a copy of it; 

…
5
Consent to supplying of report and correction of errors 

(1)
Where an individual has been given access to a report under section 4 above the report shall not be supplied in response to the application in question unless the individual has notified the medical practitioner that he consents to its being so supplied. 
(2)
The individual shall be entitled, before giving his consent under subsection (1) above, to request the medical practitioner to amend any part of the report which the individual considers to be incorrect or misleading; and, if the individual does so, the practitioner -
(a)
if he is to any extent prepared to accede to the individual’s request, shall amend the report accordingly;
(b)
if he is to any extent not prepared to accede to it but the individual requests him to attach to the report a statement of the individual’s views in respect of any part of the report which he is declining to amend, shall attach such a statement to the report.
(3)
Any request made by an individual under subsection (2) above shall be made in writing.
…”
APPENDIX 2

Local Government Pensions Committee Circular No. 113 – March 2002

148. This circular was prompted by the amendments to the LGPS Regulations applicable from 1 April 2002. It stated:

“The Local Government Pension Scheme (Amendment No. 2) Regulations 2001 [SI 2001/3401] introduced a requirement that, as from 1 April 2002, the approved independent medical practitioner who signs a certificate of permanent ill health or permanent infirmity of mind or body must be in a position to certify that:

a) he/she has not previously advised, or given an opinion on, or otherwise been involved in the particular case for which the certificate has been requested, and

b) he/she is not acting, and has not at any time acted, as the representative of the scheme member, the scheme employer or any other party in relation to the same case.

The implication is that the approved medical practitioner must be able to give an objective opinion based solely on the relevant medical evidence and free from any influence.”

149. With regard to “comparable employment”, the circular said:

“… In order to be a comparable employment –

· the alternative job’s contractual pay, hours, location, holiday entitlement, sickness and injury entitlement and other material terms must not differ substantially from the normal job, and

· the contractual provisions as to capacity in the alternative job must be either the same as in the normal job of differ “only to the extent that is reasonable given the nature of the member’s ill-health or infirmity of mind or body”

It is for the employer to identify any available job that may be suitable and obtain a medical opinion to identify what changes to a person’s normal duties would be sufficient to allow a person to perform the job. Irrespective of whether a job is deemed to be comparable, or whether its capacity requirement are identical to those of the normal job or different, approved medical practitioners giving medical opinions for the purposes of the Scheme will need to consider whether any incapacity that affects the normal job would also affect the identified job and assess whether incapacity for either job (or both jobs) is likely to be permanent.

To be regarded as comparable, a job must be with the same employer. The DTLR have advised that the job must be an actual available job, although this is not explicitly stated in regulation 27. So, for the purposes of regulation 27, no account need be taken of whether a person can do any job available at another employer or any job not currently available with the present employer.”
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